

Statement Of Licensing Policy

Licensing Act 2003

2024 - 2029

Licensing Policy

Information needed	Details
Document Number	01
Version Number	9.00
Date approved	TBC
Effective	TBC
Contact Officer	Licensing Manager

Change History

Version No	Date	Change Details
1.00	30/07/13	Initial Draft
2.00	08/08/13	Revised Draft consultation with Legal Services
3.00	30/08/13	Legal Services comments included
4.00	21/11/13	Following consultation
5.00	29/11/18	Revised Draft for Consultation
6.00	18/01/19	Final draft following consultation.
7.00	14/02/19	Draft Approved by Licensing Committee
8.00	21/02/19	Final version Approved by Full Council
9.00		Revised Draft for Consultation
10.00		Final draft following consultation.
11.00		Draft Approved by Licensing Committee
12.00		Final version Approved by Full Council

Related Documents

Document Title	Location
Licensing Act 2003	
Guidance issued under section 182 of the	
Licensing Act 2003(December 2023)	

If you have any further questions about this Policy or for further information, including applications forms, please contact:

Licensing Manager,

Slough Borough Council,

Observatory House,

25 Windsor Road,

Slough

Berkshire

SL1 2EL

Contents

1.	Introduction	6
2.	Scope of the Licensing Policy	6
	Integrating strategies, policies, objectives and legislation	7
	Fundamental principles	7
	Licensable activities	8
3.	Integration with other strategies and policies	10
	Planning	10
	Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drin	ks11
	Licensing and Public Health	11
	Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy	12
	Crime & Disorder Act 1998	12
	Policing and Crime Act 2009	12
	Protect duty/Martins Law	12
	Human Rights Act 1998	12
	Slough Pub Watch	13
	Drug use and safer clubbing	13
	Anti-social behaviour	13
	Closure Notices and Closure Orders.	13
	Door supervisors	14
	Crime prevention	14
	CCTV	15
	Equality of opportunity	15
	The Provision of Services Regulations 2009	15
4.	Policies	15
	General	15
	Children and licensed premises	16
	Cumulative impact and need	17
	Dispersal policy	17
	Drinking up & winding down time	17
	Early Morning Restriction Order (EMRO)	18
	Fire safety and capacity limits	18
	Gambling in licensed premises	19
	Hours of sales in off licences	19
	Late night refreshment	20

	Licensed premises in residential areas	2
	Noise	2
	No smoking	2
	Operating schedules	2
	Personal Licences	2
	Planning	2
	Sex establishments	2
	Zoning	2
5.	Determining applications	2
	Immigration Matters - Immigration Act 2016	2
	Grant and full variations	2
	Minor variations	2
	Sub-Committee hearings	2
	New premises licences	2
	Review of premises licence	2
	Appeals	2
	Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)	2
	Change of Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)	2
	Pavement Licenses	2
	Personal licences	2
	Temporary Event Notice (Standard TEN)	2
	Appeals	3
	Late Temporary Events Notices	3
	Applications and the Immigration Act 2016	3
	Site visits	3
	Councillors	3
	Yellow Card – Red Card – Review applications	3
6	Licence Conditions	3
	General approach to licence conditions	3
	Exhibition of Films	3
	Door Supervision	3
	Mandatory Conditions (2014)	3
	Casinos and Bingo Clubs	3
7.	Enforcement	3
	General	3
	Test purchasing	3

Inspections	38
Thames Valley Police Approach	
8. Contact details/advice and guidance	39
Appendix A Delegation of Functions (2012)	40
Appendix B Addresses for Responsible Authorities & Press Publication details	42
Appendix C Glossary	44
Appendix D	49

1. Introduction

- 1.1. The Borough of Slough is located in the Thames Valley, 20 miles to the west of the centre of London and close to Windsor, Maidenhead and Reading. The Borough covers an area of 32.5 square kilometres. These areas are shown in the map below.
- 1.2 The population of Slough is 158,500 (2021 Census). It is a culturally diverse Borough with a range of communities. Slough is often described as a "fusion of different cultures." There are strong Indian and Pakistani communities and more than a third of the population are from minority ethnic communities.
- 1.3 Slough Borough Council currently licences 324 premises licensed to serve Alcohol, supply late night refreshment and regulated entertainment. In doing so the Council has regard to drinking habits, sales to underage persons and crime and disorder which are relevant to the Authority's licensing functions and which applicants and existing licensees also need to consider.
- 1.4 There are varied entertainment venues in the Borough including Members' Clubs and various premises licensed under the Gambling Act 2005.
- 1.5 A map of the Borough is appended at **Appendix D**.

2. Scope of the Licensing Policy

2.1 Slough Borough Council is a Licensing Authority for the purpose of the

Licensing Act 2003. In pursuance of its duties and powers under the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended), the Authority makes a statement as to its Policy in respect of the provisions of the Act and will use this Policy as a framework against which licensing decisions will be made.

- 2.2 The Statement of Licensing Policy aims to promote the Licensing Objectives whilst facilitating a sustainable entertainment and cultural industry. In adopting the Licensing Policy the Council recognises both the needs of residents for a safe and healthy environment in which to live and work together with the importance of safe and well run entertainment premises, all of which promote the local economy and vibrancy of the Borough.
- 2.3 The Licensing Objectives are:
 - a) The prevention of crime and disorder
 - b) Public safety
 - c) The prevention of public nuisance
 - d) The protection of children from harm

The Authority has a duty under the Act to carry out its functions in a way that promotes the four licensing objectives, which are of equal importance.

2.4 The Licensing Authority has had regard to the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State in drawing up this Statement of Licensing Policy¹.

Integrating strategies, policies, objectives and legislation

- 2.5 The Policy provides guidance to applicants, objectors and interested residents on the general approach the Authority will take in terms of licensing. Although each licence application must be considered separately on its merits, in adopting the licensing policy, the Authority is making it clear that there are wider considerations other than the fitness of the applicant and suitability of the premises.
- 2.6 The Authority liaises with local crime prevention agencies, planning, transport, health groups, cultural bodies, and licensed premises.
- 2.7 The Authority has endeavoured to secure proper integration with local crime prevention, public health planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies. It will seek to discharge all such responsibilities so far as they impact the Licensing Objectives. It is also bound by a range of legislation, to which it will have due regard.
- 2.8 The Policy is not intended to duplicate existing legislation and regulatory regimes that already place obligations on employers and operators e.g.
 Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, the Environmental Protection Act

already adequately covered by other legislation.

- 1990, Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, Equality Act 2010, building regulations. Therefore, the Authority will not attach conditions to a licence unless they are considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and are not
- 2.9 In preparing this Policy, the Authority has consulted in accordance with the requirements of the Act and has had due regard to the Guidance issued under section 182 Licensing Act 2003.
- 2.10 This Policy is prepared in accordance with Section 5 of the Act, having regard to the Secretary of State's guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. The Policy statement will remain in existence for a period of five years during which period it will again be subject to review as and when necessary.
- 2.11 The Authority shall, as required by Section 4 of the Act, have regard to this Policy in its decision-making. The Policy may be departed from if the individual circumstances of any case merit this and it is in the interests of the licensing objectives. In such cases the Authority shall give full reasons for departing from this Policy.
- 2.12 Where revisions are made by legislation or guidance issued by the Secretary of State, there may be a period of time when the Statement of Licensing Policy is inconsistent with these revisions. In these circumstances, the Licensing Authority will have regard, and appropriate weight, to the relevant changes, guidance and its own Statement of Licensing Policy.

Fundamental principles

- 2.13 The Authority recognises that its power to reject applications or to apply conditions to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates is constrained by the terms of the
- 2.14 The Authority recognises that in relation to Temporary Event Notices (TENs) it has no power to:

- (a) Attach any condition(s) to a Temporary Event Notice. Unless the police or Environmental Health Officer have made a relevant representation which has not been withdrawn, and conditions may only be attached by a Licensing Committee only where the venue at which the event is to be held has an existing Premises Licence or a Club Premise Certificate;
- (b) Modify mandatory conditions;
- 2.15 The Authority recognises that in relation to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates it has no power to:
 - (a) Attach conditions to a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate (other than appropriate Mandatory Conditions), unless those conditions are consistent with the operating schedule, submitted with an application or further to a relevant representation.
 - (b) To exclude from the scope of a Premises Licence or a Club Premises

 Certificate any of the licensable or qualifying activities to which the application relates (other than by way of determining a Review Application);
 - (c) Refuse to specify a person in a Premises Licence as the Designated Premise Supervisor;
 - (d) Reject the application unless it has received a relevant representation about the application and then only to such extent as the Authority considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and in the case of 2.16 to such extent as the crime prevention objective will be undermined.
- 2.16 The Authority can refuse a minor variation if the application undermines one or more of the licensing objectives.
- 2.17 Throughout this Policy the Authority has outlined the standards which it expects to be addressed in applications.
- 2.18 This Policy does not override the right of any person to make representations on an application or to seek a Review of a licence or certificate where provision has been made for them to do so in the Act.
- 2.19 It is recognised that the licensing function is only one means of securing the delivery of the licensing objectives and should not therefore be seen as a universal remedy for solving all problems within the community. The licensing process can only seek to control those measures within the control of the licensee and in the vicinity of the licensed premises. The Authority will continue to work in partnership with neighbouring local authorities, the police, local businesses and residents to promote the licensing objective as outlined.

There is no definition to clarify 'in the vicinity' within the Licensing Act 2003 therefore our approach to determining vicinity is to do with the nature of a perceived problem and who is likely to be affected.

Licensable activities

2.20 The Council is the "Licensing Authority" for the purposes of the Licensing Act 2003 ("the Act") and is responsible for granting licences, certificates and notices in the Borough of Slough for the activities described by the Act as

"Licensable Activities".

These activities include:

- (a) Retail sale of alcohol, including pubs, nightclubs and shops
- (b) Supply of alcohol to club members
- (c) Provision of "regulated entertainment" (listed below) to the public, to Club members or with a view to profit
- (d) The supply of hot food and/or drink from any premises between 11.00pm and 5.00 am the provision of "Late Night Refreshment".

Regulated Entertainment

- (1) A performance of a play (more than 500 persons and/or between 2300 and 0800
- (2) A showing of a film
- (3) An indoor sporting event (more than 1000 persons and/or between 2300 and 0800)
- (4) Boxing or wrestling entertainment (whether indoor or outdoor for more than 1000 persons and/or between 2300 and 0800))
- (5) A performance of live music (but note the changes brought in by the Live Music Act 2012-see '**Note**' below;
- (6) Any playing of recorded music(but note the changes brought in by the Live Music Act 2012-see 'Note' below;
- (7) A performance of dance (more than 500 persons and/or between 2300 and 0800)
- (8) Entertainment of a similar description to that falling within the performance of live music, the playing of recorded music and the performance of dance, and including karaoke

Note: The Live Music Act 2012 and Deregulation Act 2015 amended the Licensing Act 2003 by deregulating aspects of the performance of live and recorded music so that, in certain circumstances, it is not a licensable activity.

However, live and recorded music remains licensable;

- Where a performance of live (amplified or unamplified) and/or recorded music— whether amplified or unamplified – takes place before 0800 and after 2300 on any day
- Where a performance of amplified live and/or recorded music does not take place either on relevant licensed premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for the provision of late night refreshment
- Where a performance of amplified live and/or recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises, at a time when those premises are

- not open for the purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises
- Where a performance of amplified live and/or recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises, or workplaces, in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people or
- Where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation provided for by the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence or certificate as a result of a licence review

Note: The Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013 (from 27 June 2013) deregulates aspects of the performance of a play, performance of dance and indoor sporting events.

- It deregulates performance of plays / dance for audiences of up to 500 people, between the hours of 08:00 and 23:00 (with the exception of dancing for which a Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence is required);
- It deregulates indoor sporting events for audiences of up to 1000 people, between the hours of 08:00 and 23:00; and
- It clarifies that Combined Fighting Sports (Mixed Martial Arts etc) are a form of Boxing and Wrestling and will continue to be regulated.

3. Integration with other strategies and policies

Planning

3.1 The Authority recognises that licensing applications should not be seen as a re-run of the planning application process and that there should be a clear separation of the planning and licensing regimes to avoid duplication and inefficiency. However, the Authority will normally expect applicants to demonstrate that, their proposed use of the premises is lawful in planning terms, including complying with any conditions that may be imposed upon a planning consent, prior to applications under this Act being submitted.

Nevertheless, the Council recognises that it is permissible for applications for licences to be made before any relevant planning permission has been sought or granted by the planning authority.

3.2 As outlined at paragraph 14.65 of the Consolidated Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (December 2023 version)², there are also circumstances when as a condition of planning permission a terminal hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant MUST observe the earlier closing time. Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution under planning law.

² Revised guidance issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003

- Enforcement of planning conditions and prosecution for breaches is wholly with the remit of Planning and does not form any part of the Licensing regime.
- 3.3 Where a licence application is to be determined by the Licensing Sub Committee, the Sub Committee in such cases will normally impose a condition to the effect that the licence will not become effective until the relevant planning consent has been obtained.
- 3.4 Slough Borough Council's planning policies relating to the assessment of planning applications are contained in the Slough Local Government Framework Core Strategy 2006-2026, and the saved policies in the Slough Local Plan. A draft of the Site Allocations Development Plan Document has been prepared. This contains more details on specific sites and a boundary of the town centre within which particular sites are identified for regeneration purposes.

Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks

3.5 The Portman Group operates on behalf of the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to ensure that drinks are packaged and promoted in a socially responsible manner and only to those who are 18 years or older. The Code is an important weapon in protecting children from harm because it addresses the naming, marketing and promotion of alcohol products sold in licensed premises in a manner which may appeal to or attract minors The Authority commends the Portman Group Code and licence holders should have regard to it.

Licensing and Public Health

- 3.6 The Licensing authority recognises the potential harmful impact of alcohol on the public health of the residents of Slough. This can have a massive impact on the National Health Service and medical providers locally. Public Health are a responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and can make representations on premise licence applications as well as calling for reviews on premises that undermine the licensing objectives.
- 3.7 The Secretary of State's Guidance states that health bodies can make representations based on any of the four licensing objectives. The licensing authority considers that data around hospital admissions due to alcohol consumption; data that shows a correlation between anti social behaviour and excessive alcohol consumption in different localities, data that violence related to alcohol or the night time economy in general; data that links high alcohol consumption to a particular area and data that undermines the physical, moral and psychological welfare of children and vulnerable persons to all be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives. Any or all of this data would be grounds for public health exercising their right to participate in the licensing process.
- 3.8 The Licensing authority takes the issue of public health extremely seriously and would expect applicants and licence holders to familiarise themselves with any local issues that may be detrimental to the public health of the people of Slough. The licensing authority will take notice of the issues raised by public health to do with licensed premises and issues surrounding alcohol and

will determine applications in line with ensuring that all of the licensing objectives are actively promoted for the safety of the local communities in which a licensed premises operates. The Council's 'Joint Strategic Needs Assessment' outlines the health and wellbeing of the local population.

Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy

3.9 In applying this Policy, the Authority will have regard to the Government's Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy and the Berkshire East Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy in promoting the licensing objectives.

Crime & Disorder Act 1998

3.10 Further to section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998, in applying this Policy the Authority will exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of these functions on and will do all that it reasonable can to prevent, crime and disorder in the Slough area. The Authority will also have regard to the Safer Slough Partnership, which incorporates both local and national strategies. In addition the Authority will liaise with the Slough Crime Reduction Partnership in order to reduce crime, misuse of drugs and the fear of crime.

Policing and Crime Act 2009

3.11 In applying this Policy, the Authority will have regard to their obligations under Part 3 relating to alcohol misuse, (children) changes to the mandatory condition, and the licensing authority as a Responsible Authority.

Protect duty/Martins Law

- 3.12 The <u>Terrorism (Protection of premises) draft Bill</u>, also known as Martyn's Law, is not yet law however if it does come in during the period of this statement, then best practice will be considered.
- 3.13 The chances of being involved in a major incident or emergency are low. Nevertheless, these do and have happened within Slough Borough. The Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum has produced a guide to help you prepare for emergencies found on the council website in the Preparing for emergencies information pages.

Human Rights Act 1998

- 3.14 The Human Rights Act 1998, incorporating the European Convention on Human Rights, makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way, which is incompatible with a Convention right. The Licensing Authority will have regard to the Human Rights Act when exercising its licensing functions, with particular reference to the following relevant provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights:-
 - Article 6 In the determination of civil rights and obligations every person is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal established by law.

- Article 8 Every person has the right to respect for his home and private and family life.
- Article 1 of the First Protocol Every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his or her possessions.

Slough Pub Watch

- 3.15 In Slough a 'Pub Watch' Scheme has been established by licensees with the support of the Police and the Council. The Borough has been divided into areas, with a total of four meetings being held each month at different venues throughout the Borough. The Authority recognises the significant support and value that these associations give to the achievement of the licensing objectives. The meetings are currently well supported by both 'on licence' and 'off licence' venues.
- 3.16 The Authority will support these associations and their aims and objectives.

Drug use and safer clubbing

- 3.17 The Authority recognises that drug use by young people in a club environment is not something that applies to all licensed premises. However, it is also recognised that special conditions will need to be imposed for certain types of venues to reduce the sale and consumption of drugs and to create a safer environment for those who may have taken them.
- 3.18 In applying this Policy in respect of nightclubs and dance events the Authority will have regard to their obligations under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, in that the Authority will do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in the Slough area. The Authority, will liaise with the Slough Crime Reduction Partnership and the Drug and Alcohol Action Team in order to reduce crime, misuse of drugsand the fear of crime.

Anti-social behaviour

3.19 The Authority is also aware and will support the use by police of the issue of written directions under Section 35 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, whereby a person may receive, a '48 hour' ban from a specific area. A person given a direction under Section 35 who fails without reasonable excuse to comply with it commits and offence.

Closure Notices and Closure Orders.

- 3.20 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides both the Police and the local authority with powers to close premises for a certain period of time:
- 3.21 Section 76 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, states that a police officer of at least the rank of inspector, or the local authority, may issue a closure notice if satisfied on reasonable grounds that the use of the particular premises has resulted or is likely soon to result in nuisance to members of the public, or that there has been or is likely soon to be disorder near those premises associated with the use of those premises, and that the notice is necessary to prevent the nuisance or disorder from continuing, recurring or occurring. A closure notice prohibits access to the premises for a period specified in the notice (up to 48 hours)

and may prohibit access by all persons except those specified, at all times and in all circumstances (or those specified).

3.22 Whenever a closure notice is issued an application can be made to a magistrates' court for a closure order. This can be made by a constable or the local authority and must be heard by the magistrates' court not later than 48 hours after service of the closure notice. A closure order can be for up to 3 months.

Door supervisors

- 3.23 Whenever persons are employed at licensed premises to carry out any security function they must be licensed with the Security Industry Authority (SIA). Competent and professional door supervisors are key to public safety at licensed premises and the provision of door supervisors is an action point for the leisure industry to consider in the Home Office Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy. If a licensee directly employs security operatives he/she will need to be licensed by the SIA.
- 3.24 The Police may consider that certain premises require strict supervision for the purpose of promoting the reduction of crime and disorder. In particular, the Authority will normally support an approach that requires door supervisors to be employed at premises that open beyond midnight, unless it can be demonstrated that this is unnecessary, having regard to the licensing objectives.
- 3.25 Applicants for premises licences and club premises certificates should note, that the Authority may only attach conditions to licences, if such conditions are consistent with the operating schedule submitted as part of the application process, or if relevant representations are received.
- 3.26 Where premises close before midnight, door supervisors may still have to be employed, if the risks associated with the operation warrant such an approach. The number of door supervisors to be employed, would need to be determined as a result of a risk assessment, carried out by the designated premises supervisor. However, it is recommended that a minimum of one door supervisor per 100 customers be used. Consideration also needs to be given to the ratio of male and female door supervisors, which are appropriate for particular premises.

Crime prevention

- 3.27 Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates will, so far as possible, reflect local crime prevention strategies.
- 3.28 Where relevant representations are received the Authority may impose conditions, for example, requiring the use of CCTV both inside and outside of licensed premises for the purpose of minimising crime disorder and disturbance. Again, applicants for licences should note that the Authority might only attach conditions to licences if such conditions are consistent with the operating schedule submitted as part of the application process, or if relevant representations are received.

CCTV

- 3.29 The Authority must have regard to the 'Surveillance Camera Code of Practice' with regards to considering the imposition of conditions relating to CCTV and in particular to Section 1.15 as follows:
 - "1.15 When a relevant authority has licensing functions and considers the use of surveillance camera systems as part of the conditions attached to a licence or certificate, it must in particular have regard to guiding principle one in this code. Any proposed imposition of a blanket requirement to attach surveillance camera conditions as part of the conditions attached to a licence or certificate is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and will require an appropriately strong justification and must be kept under regular review. Applications in relation to licensed premises must take into account the circumstances surrounding that application and whether a requirement to have a surveillance camera system is appropriate in that particular case. For example, it is unlikely that a trouble-free community pub would present a pressing need such that a surveillance camera condition would be justified. In such circumstances where a licence or certificate is granted subject to surveillance camera system conditions, the consideration of all other guiding principles in this code is a matter for the licensee as the system operator."

Equality of opportunity

3.30 In carrying out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003, the Licensing Authority will be mindful of its duties under the Equality Act 2010 "to have due regard to" the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations in regard to age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

The Provision of Services Regulations 2009

3.31 Under the 2009 Regulations³, the Council is to ensure that all procedures relating to the access to, or exercise of licensing may be easily completed, at a distance and by electronic means.

4. Policies

General

4.1 This policy will apply to any licence application determined after the date the Authority resolved to make these policies operational, irrespective of the date on which the application was made.

4.2 In determining any licence application, the overriding principle adopted by the Authority will be that each application will be determined on its individual merits.

³ The Provision of Services Regulations 2009

Children and licensed premises

- 4.3 The Act makes it an offence to permit children under the age of 16 who are not accompanied by an adult to be present on premises being used exclusively or primarily for supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises.
- 4.4 The Authority will take the necessary measures to protect children from harm. Harm to children includes physical, moral, and psychological harm in some way. The Authority will not seek to limit access by children to all types of premises. Additional controls may be necessary where:
 - (a) adult entertainment is provided;
 - (b) there have been convictions of members of the current management for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for underage drinking (other than in the context of the exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds consuming beer, wine andcider in the company of adults during a table meal);
 - (c) requirements for proof of age cards or other age identification to combat the purchase of alcohol by minors is not the norm;
 - (d) there is a known association with drug taking or dealing;
 - (e) there is a strong element of gambling on the premises, but not small numbers of cash prize gaming machines;
 - (f) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or primary purposes of the services provided at the premises.
- 4.5 The Council will impose conditions restricting access only to those who meet the required age limit in line with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification or, in specific cases, a certificate given to the film by the Authority itself.
- 4.6 In the case of premises which are used for film exhibitions, licensees mustinclude within their operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification or the licensing authority itself.
- 4.7 Where a large number of children are likely to be present on any licensed premises, for example a children's show, pantomime, youth disco or similar event, an appropriate number of adult staff should be present to control the access and egress of children and to ensure their safety and protection from harm, and conditions to this effect will be necessary upon the licence.
- 4.8 Where staff have unaccompanied contact with and responsibility for direct supervision of children, the suitability of these staff must be verified by carrying out Disclosure and Barring Service criminal record checks to an appropriate level.
- 4.9 Some options available for limiting access by children would include:
 - (a) limitations on the hours when children may be present;
 - (b) limitations on the presence of children under certain ages when particular specified activities are taking place;
 - (c) limitations on the parts of premises to which children may have access;

- (d) age limitations (below 18);
- (e) limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
- (f) requirements for accompanying adults (including for example, a combination of requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and
- (g) full exclusion of those people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place.
- 4.10 The Authority is not able to impose any condition that specifically requires access for children to be provided at any premises. Where no restriction or limitation is imposed, the issue of access will be at the discretion of the individual licensee or club.
- 4.11 Venue operators seeking premises licences may volunteer such prohibitions and restrictions in their operating schedules because their own risk assessments have determined that the presence of children is undesirable or inappropriate. Where no relevant representations are made, any volunteered prohibitions or restrictions will become conditions.
- 4.12 The responsible authority for protecting children from harm for the Slough Borough Council area is the Local Safeguarding Children's Board.

Cumulative impact and need

- 4.13 Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) for the purposes of this Policy, means the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. For example, this may include the potential impact on crime and disorder or public nuisance on an area that a large concentration of licensed premises may have.
- 4.14 The adoption of a cumulative impact policy is a highly significant measure, because it creates a presumption against a particular form of economic development, and therefore, as a matter of good regulation a policy should not be adopted unless there is a sound reason to do so. Where problem premises are identified the Licensing Authority will review the consideration for a C.I.P.
 - Slough Borough Council does not have a CIP nor is this currently under consideration.

Dispersal policy

4.15 Where there is a likelihood of residents living around licensed premises being disturbed by customers leaving venues, or there being an impact on crime and disorder from customers leaving venues, licensees may wish to consider putting in place a dispersal policy which sets out the steps in place to minimise the potential for disorder and disturbance as customers leave. This will assist licensees in their application being determined without representations being received.

Drinking up & winding down time

4.16 Under the Act, drinking up time as existed in the Licensing Act 1964 no longer applies. However, it is neither in the Authority's, the personal or premises licence

holders, residents or the customers interest, for customers to have to leave a premises immediately after purchasing a drink. Therefore, the Authority will normally expect the service of alcoholic drinks to cease at least 30 minutes before customers are required to leave the premises, unless it can be demonstrated that this is unnecessary.

- 4.17 In the case of nightclubs, dance venues and similar premises, during the 30 minutes immediately after the service of alcohol ceases, designated premises supervisors will be expected to operate a winding down time. During this time licensees will be expected to slow down the pace, volume and type of music played so as to ensure that customers are not exiting into the street in an agitated state. During the winding down period, it may be appropriate that licensees alter the lighting, serve food, coffee and other soft drinks, all of which are permitted under the Act, depending on the licensing conditions granted.
- 4.18 In future, licensees may also consider the operation of a dedicated cab service from inside the premises. However, it should be borne in mind that if customers purchase food and soft drinks during this period, additional time may need to be allowed for the consumption of these purchases. Door staff should be stationed outside the premises to encourage customers to leave quietly to supplement written notices to that effect.

Early Morning Restriction Order (EMRO)

Introducing an EMRO

- 4.19 The Home Office issued guidance⁴ outlining the process and matters that should be considered when the Authority believes an EMRO is required. The Authority will follow the guidance if it considers that an EMRO is required for an area in Slough. Any application for an EMRO must be approved by full Council.
- 4.20 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcoholrelated crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times in which serious public nuisance or alcohol related anti-social behaviour is not directly attributable to specific premises.
- 4.21 The Licensing Authority may introduce, vary, or revoke an EMRO. This power enables the Authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified period between the hours of 12 midnight to 0600 hours in the whole or part of its area if it is satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing objectives.
 - Slough Borough Council does not have an EMRO nor is this currently under consideration.

Fire safety and capacity limits

- 4.22 The Authority is committed to ensuring public safety in licensed premises by working in close partnership with Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, subject to the provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.
- 4.23 The Authority will when relevant representations are received from the Fire Authority, consider the implications relating to fire safety for each individual application for, or

⁴ Revised guidance issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003

- variation of, a premises licence. The Authority will seek to protect the safety of all persons at all licensed premises by ensuring that the requirements of the Fire Authority are met.
- 4.24 The Authority expects premises to be presented to the highest possible standards of safety and applicants to address the requirements of Health and Safety at Work and fire safety legislation. In order to avoid the necessity for representations to be made applicants should ensure that the Fire Authority have sight of such documentation as may be required in order to demonstrate compliance with the above.
- 4.25 "Safe Capacities" should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of public safety or the prevention of crime and disorder. If a capacity has been imposed through other legislation it would be inappropriate to reproduce it in a premises licence. However, if no safe capacity has been imposed the authority may consider it appropriate for a new capacity to be attached when licensable activities are taking place.

Gambling in licensed premises

4.26 The Gambling Act 2005 became effective in 2007 and a separate 'Statement of Gambling Principles' has been drawn up and approved by this Council⁵. The Authority will therefore have due regard to the contents of the document in so much as its relevance to and bearing on the Licensing Policy.

Hours

4.27 The Authority recognises that fixed and artificially early closing times in certain areas can lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets when large numbers of people tend to leave licensed premises at the same time. Longer licensing hours regarding the sale of alcohol may therefore be considered as an important factor in reducing friction at late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport in areas where there have previously been incidents of disorder and disturbance.

Hours of sales in off licences

4.28 Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be permitted to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises during the normal hours they intend to open for shopping purposes. However, in the case of individual shops that are known to be a focus of disorder and disturbance, then subject to relevant representations being received, a limit on licensing hours may be appropriate.

Late Night Levy

- 4.29 The late night levy enables the authority to raise contributions towards the cost of policing the late night economy. The levy is payable by the holders of any premises licence between midnight and 0600 hours.
- 4.30 The Home Office have issued guidance on the process and matters that should be considered when the authority considers that it is appropriate to introduce a night time levy. Any application for a late night levy must be approved by full Council.

⁵ Statement of gambling principles

Slough Borough Council does not have a Late Night Levy nor is this currently under consideration

Late night refreshment

- 4.31 There are concerns about noise and nuisance, crime and disorder and antisocial behaviour related to late night opening. Therefore, operators of late night refreshment premises wishing to open beyond 11pm will need to demonstrate clearly that nuisance, crime, disorder, or antisocial behaviour will not result from their later operation.
- 4.32 In the case of premises which were in operation prior to the Act coming into force, the Authority will not seek to curtail operating hours unless there is evidence that such operation impacts negatively on the licensing objectives.

Licensed premises in residential areas

4.33 In general the Authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the individual merits of each application. However, when issuing a licence, stricter conditions are likely to be imposed with regard to noise control in the case of premises that are situated in largely residential areas. In general, public houses located in and catering for residential areas wishing to open beyond 11pm will need to demonstrate clearly that public nuisance will not result from later operation.

Noise

- 4.34 The Authority will assess each application having regard to noise and the likelihood of nuisance being caused to persons in the area. If licensees anticipate potential noise problems from their premises, or operate a pub (or similar premises) in a residential area and wish to open beyond 11pm, they should contact the Council's Neighbourhood Enforcement Team for advice and assistance.
- 4.35 The Authority may impose conditions in relation to licensed premises to prevent unnecessary noise, vibration and disturbance to local residents as it considers appropriate. This may include sound proofing requirements, restrictions on times when music or other licensable activities may take place, and may include technical restrictions on sound levels at the premises by the use of sound limiting devices properly set to prevent noise breakout and disturbance.
- 4.36 Conditions relating to limiting the hours of open-air entertainment, the use of outdoor areas, gardens and patios may be imposed to control and prevent unnecessary noise and disturbance.
- 4.37 Conditions may be imposed requiring the display of signs both inside and outside of the premises reminding customers to leave the premises quietly and to respect the rights of nearby residents.
- 4.38 The Authority may only attach conditions to the licences which are consistent with the operating schedule submitted as part of the application process or if relevant representations are received.

No smoking

- 4.39 In July 2007, the government introduced legislation to prohibit smoking in virtually all enclosed and substantially enclosed public places and workplaces. This includes both permanent and temporary structures such as tents and marquees. Smoking rooms in public places and workplaces are no longer allowed.
- 4.40 The new law also requires vehicles to be smoke free at all times if they are used:
 - (a) to transport members of the public or;
 - (b) in the course of paid or voluntary work by more than one person regardless of whether they are in the vehicle at the same time.
- 4.41 As a consequence of the no smoking legislation, many licensed venues have external areas which could be designated for smoking purposes. However, a number of town centre venues do not have such areas, resulting in their customers having to smoke on the streets.
- 4.42 Where smoking subsequently takes place in either a beer garden or on the public highway and complaints of public nuisance or noise are received, the Authority will consider controls to limit the disturbance.
- 4.43 In order to assist town centre venues in segregating and regulating smokers, as well as controlling entry/exit numbers, street smoking area consents have been introduced as and where necessary.

Operating schedules

- 4.44 The Authority will expect individual applicants to address the licensing objectives in their operating schedule. It will expect the operating schedule to have regard to the nature of the area where the premises are situated, the type of premises concerned, the licensable activities to be provided, operational procedures and the needs of the local community.
- 4.45 In particular it will expect the applicant to be proposing practical steps to prevent disturbance to local residents. The Authority will expect the applicant to have carried out sound tests to ascertain whether there is sound leakage. This noise could relate not only to music but also from air handling equipment, or patrons. If there is sound leakage the Authority will expect this to have been addressed in practical ways such as: -
 - Keeping doors and windows closed and providing adequate mechanical ventilation;
 - Reducing sound levels and installing a sound limiting device to prevent sound exceeding the appropriate level;
 - Installing soundproofing measures to contain sound and vibration.
- 4.46 The Authority will expect popular venues, which attract queues, to formulate a system to avoid disturbance to residents. This can sometimes be achieved by simply ensuring that the direction of the queue is away from residential accommodation.

- 4.47 In terms of patrons leaving the premises particularly late at night or early in the morning the Authority will expect the applicant to have included in the operating schedule such practical steps as:
 - Erecting prominent notices at the exits to premises asking customers to leave quietly and not to slam car doors;
 - At appropriate times making loudspeaker announcements within the premises to the same effect;
 - Instructing door supervisors to ask patrons leaving the premises to leave the area quietly;
 - Having measures in place to prevent bottles and glasses being removed from the premises;
 - Reducing the volume of music towards the end of the evening and where appropriate playing quieter, more soothing music as the evening winds down;
 - Where appropriate considering car jockey schemes;
 - Increasing the availability of licensed taxis or mini-cabs to take patrons from the premises;
 - In appropriate cases door supervisors or a manager patrolling nearby streets to assess for themselves whether there is a problem and how best to deal with it;
 - Banning from the premises people who regularly leave in a noisy fashion.
 - Increasing outside lighting levels but without causing nuisance from light pollution;
 - Where there is a private forecourt, preventing patrons from using it for eating and drinking etc after 11 p.m.
 - At take away food venues encouraging customers not to consume food in the immediate vicinity of the premises.
- 4.48 One of the greatest irritations to residents trying to sleep is the sound of music escaping from licensed premises. Such an escape of sound might preclude the grant of a licence or if one has already been granted for it to be reviewed with a view to possible revocation. It might also lead to a Noise Abatement notice being issued under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Responsible applicants and licensees will wish to avoid the need for such action, as they will wish to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance.
- 4.49 There can be little doubt that a well-managed licensed venue can benefit the local community. Against that, there is clearly a risk of local residents being disturbed particularly if the venue is open late at night. This is because people leaving the premises, particularly late at night or in the early hours of the morning, can be a significant problem. Patrons may be less inhibited about their behaviour and may be unaware of the noise they are creating.
- 4.50 Late at night and during the early hours of the morning the area will be quieter, and any noise will, therefore, be amplified and provide more disturbance for residents. Clearly a responsible applicant or licensee will wish to further the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance by introducing practical measures to prevent such nuisance.
- 4.51 The Authority will expect the applicant to indicate in the operating schedule the measures proposed to prevent crime and disorder. Dependent upon the nature and style of the premises these may include:

- Who will be responsible for ensuring compliance with the operating schedule and/or any conditions imposed by a Licensing Sub Committee following a hearing.
- The provision, operation and maintenance of closed circuit television in accordance with the specification required by Authority following consultation with the Police;
- Search facilities and procedures;
- Use of safe drinking vessels (e.g. plastic and safer forms of glass cups/bottles);
- Access to appropriately priced non-alcoholic facilities/products;
- Display of information about responsible drinking including unit levels, the sensible drinking message and the risks of "drink driving";
- Clear and prominent sign up to a "designated driver scheme" (whereby people are encouraged to designate a driver for the evening who will not drink alcoholic drinks);
- Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs;
- Measures to prevent the "spiking" of drinks;
- Employment of licensed door supervisors and other appropriately trained staff;
- To consider food serving and "cool down" times e.g. introducing periods before closing during which food and soft drinks only are sold;
- Good design and management of premises creating more seating areas to avoid the health and violence implications of "vertical" drinking;
- Having measures in place to prevent bottles and glasses being removed from the premises;
- Employing glass collectors to ensure that drinking vessels do not accumulate;
- Procedures for risk assessing promotions and events for the potential to cause crime and disorder and plans for minimising such risks;
- The participation in an appropriate Pub Watch scheme or other body designed to ensure effective liaison with the local community is encouraged;
- Participation in any alcohol harm reduction campaigns is encouraged.
- 4.52 Prevention of crime and disorder is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of Slough Borough Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. It is important, therefore, that the applicant be able to demonstrate to the Authority the practical steps that will be taken to further this objective. Integrated responses to night life issues which encompass public health, as well as crime and disorder issues, can facilitate the implementation of initiatives as well as reduce costs and repetition.
- 4.53 The Authority will attach appropriate conditions where they are appropriate for the promotion of one or more of the Licensing Objectives, such conditions will be tailored to the individual styles and characteristics of the premises and events concerned.
- 4.54 Specific conditions may be attached to premises licences to reflect local crime and disorder prevention strategies. Such conditions may include the use of closed-circuit television cameras, the provision and use of shatterproof drinking receptacles, drugs and weapons search policy, the use of licensed door supervisors specialised lighting requirements, hours of opening, and designation of seating areas within premises.
- 4.55 Each licence will be individual to the premises to which it applies, and the conditions attached to the licence will be individual to that premises and deal in a proportionate manner with those issues that relate to that premises. There will not be any standard conditions that will be automatically applied to any premises other than the Mandatory

Conditions required to be attached to all licences. However, the Authority may draw upon a pool of conditions which may be relevant to the majority of applications and from which appropriate and proportionate conditions may be drawn in particular circumstances.

Personal Licences

4.56 Where appropriate, following a representation from the Police, the Authority will consider whether granting the licence will be in the interests of the crime and disorder prevention objective. The Authority will consider the seriousness of any relevant conviction(s), the period that has elapsed since any offence(s) were committed and any mitigating circumstances. The Authority will only grant the application if it is satisfied that doing so will promote this objective.

Planning

4.57 To avoid inoperative premises being granted licences, the Authority will not normally determine an application unless the applicant can demonstrate that the premises have either an appropriate (in terms of activity and hours of use sought) Planning consent, or that is otherwise lawful. Exceptions can be made where the applicant can demonstrate compelling reasons why the application should be considered although the planning status of the premises has not been finalised. This will not apply to an application for a provisional statement under section 29 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Sex establishments

- 4.58 In November 2009, the Policing and Crime Act came into force. This Act amended Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 so as to incorporate Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs).
- 4.59 Under the 1982 Act as amended, SEVs offering entertainment like lap dancing or any live performance or display of nudity on more than 11 occasions within a 12-month period, are required to obtain a SEV licence, from the authority, authorising such activity. A separate Sex Establishments Policy Statement applies, from which, conditions can be drawn and attached to the licence by the local authority⁶.
- 4.60 The following are not regarded as Sexual Entertainment Venues for the purpose of the amendment to Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982;
 - (a) Sex shops and sex cinemas;
 - (b) Any premises that at the time in question:
 - (i) has not provided relevant entertainment on more than 11 occasions within the previous 12 months;

⁶ Sex Establishment Policy Statement

- (ii) no such occasion has begun within the period of one month beginning with the end of any previous occasion; and
- (iii) no such occasion has lasted for more than 24 hours.
- (c) other premises exempted by order of the Secretary of State where an order may be made that certain types of performances or displays of nudity are not to be treated as relevant entertainment for the purposes of the Schedule.
- (d) Premises specified or described in an order made by the relevant National Authority.
- 4.61 Where the promoter of a Sexual Entertainment Venue wishes to provide any of the licensable activities as outlined in the Licensing Act 2003 in addition to the sexual entertainment, then a premises licence will also be required for that activity.

Zoning

4.62 It is not intended to introduce any form of zoning. Experience in other areas shows that this can lead to the significant movement of people across boundaries in search of premises opening later and puts greater pressure on town centres than is necessary.

5. Determining applications

Immigration Matters - Immigration Act 2016

- 5.1 Section 36 and Schedule 4 of the Immigration Act 2016 amended the Licensing Act 2003 and made Home Office Immigration Enforcement a Responsible Authority concerned with the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder.
- 5.2 They will exercise their power both in respect of being a consultee on new licence applications and having right of entry to licensed premises with a view to seeing whether an offence under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed on a licensed premises. This will primarily involve the detection and prevention of illegal working on premises that have an alcohol licence or a late night refreshment licence.
- 5.3 The offence of employing people at a licensed premises who have no right to work in the UK is also now listed in the Secretary of State's guidance under Section 11.27 which covers criminal activity deemed to be particularly serious and where a licensing authority should consider revoking a premises licence even in the first instance.
- 5.4 This Act clearly supports and actively promotes the licensing objective of preventing crime and disorder and the licensing authority will work with colleagues in the Immigration service and Thames Valley Police to enforce this.
- 5.5 The commencement of the Immigration Act 2016 made it a requirement forlicensing authorities to be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK. An application made by someone who is not entitled to work in the UK must be rejected.
- 5.6 Licences must not be issued to people who are illegally present in the UK, who are not permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition that prohibits them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.

5.7 A premises or personal licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will lapse if the holder's permission to live or work in the UK comes to an end.

Grant and full variations

- 5.8 All licensing applications for the grant or variation of a premises licence must be served on:
 - (a) The Licensing Authority for the area;
 - (b) The Chief of Police for the area;
 - (c) The Chief Fire Officer for the area;
 - (d) The Local Safeguarding Children's Board for Reading;
 - (e) Health and Safety Authority for the area;
 - (f) Local Environmental Health Authority for the area;
 - (g) The Local Weights and Measures Authority for the area;
 - (h) Environmental Protection Authority;
 - (i) Local Planning Authority for the area;
 - (j) Health Board (Slough Borough council); and
 - (k) A Licensing Authority other than Slough Borough Council in whose area part of the premises is situated.
 - 5.9 In addition, where applications for the grant or full variation of a premises licence are on a boat, a copy of the application must be served on:
 - (i) Navigation Authority;
 - (ii) (ii) The Environment Agency;
 - (iii) The Canal and River Trust; and
 - (iv) The Secretary of State.
 - 5.10 It is the responsibility of the applicant for all licences to ensure it is served in accordance with the provisions of the Act, unless the application is made electronically.
 - 5.11 Whilst many applications will be resolved without the need for a committee hearing, those not previously resolved will be referred to a Licensing Sub Committee where the application will be fully considered.
 - 5.12 Applications for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence or a club premises certificate shall be placed on the council's website for 28 days.

Minor variations

- 5.13 In August 2009, the Government introduced a process for making minor variations to premises licences and club premises certificates, that could have 'no adverse impact' on the promotion of any of the four licensing objectives.
- 5.14 Minor variations cannot be used to;
 - (a) extend the period for which the licence or certificate has effect;
 - (b) specify, in a premises licence, an individual as the premise supervisor;
 - (c) add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol as an activity authorised by a licence or certificate:
 - (d) authorise the sale by retail or supply of alcohol at any time between11pm and 7am;
 - (e) authorise an increase in the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be sold by retail or supplied;
 - (f) authorise an individual to supply alcohol at a community premises; and/or

- (g) vary substantially, the premises licence or club premises certificate, to which the premises relates.
- 5.15 Minor variations can be used to:
 - (a) make minor changes to the structure or layout of a premises;
 - (b) make small adjustments to the licensing hours;
 - (c) remove out of date, irrelevant or unenforceable conditions;
 - (d) add or remove licensable activities; and/or
 - (e) add volunteered conditions to a premises licence or club premises certificate.
- 5.16 Under the 'minor variations' process, the applicant must send the application to the Authority and must display the relevant details of the application on a white notice for a period of ten working days, beginning with the day after the application was given to the Authority. The applicant is **not required** to advertise the variation in a:
 - (i) newspaper; or
 - (ii) (ii) circular; or
 - (iii) copy it to responsible authorities.
- 5.17 On receipt of a minor variation application, the Authority will consider and consult the relevant responsible authority as appropriate as well as considering any relevant representations. The Authority may refuse the application if it believes the variation undermines the licensing objectives.
- 5.18 If the Authority fails to determine the application within 15 working days, the application will be treated as being refused and the fee returned.

Sub-Committee hearings

5.19 These hearings will be held as directed by the Act and in accordance with The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005⁷. For example, in relation to applications for the grant, variation, transfer or review of a premises licence or club premises certificate or for the grant of a personallicence where there are objections from Responsible Authorities or 'Other Persons' and the issues cannot be resolved without a hearing. Hearings will also be held where there is an objection relating to a Temporary Event Notice (TEN).

New premises licences

- 5.20 Any person aged 18 years or over who is carrying on or who proposes to carry on a business that involves the use of premises for licensable activities may apply for a premises licence either on a permanent basis or for a time-limited period. "A person" in this context includes a limited company or partnership.
- 5.21 Where the premises are a managed public house, the Authority will expect the applicant for a premises licence to be the pub operating company, as the manager (as an employee) would not be the person actually carrying on the business. The same applies to premises such as cinema chains and fast food restaurant chains where the managers will similarly be employees of the operating company.

⁷ The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 and The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) (Amendment) Regulations 2005

5.22 In respect of most 'leased' public houses a tenant may run or propose to run the business at the premises and in agreement with the pub operating company. In such cases the tenant and the operating company should agree who should apply for the premises licence.

Review of premises licence

- 5.23 Any premises subject to a premises licence or club premises certificate may have that licence or certificate reviewed by the Licensing Authority on application by a Responsible Authority or any Other Person. The Act provides strict guidelines as to the timescale and procedures to be adhered to and the Authority will deal with every review application on that basis.
- 5.24 A review application will be determined by a Licensing Sub Committee who may in accordance with Section 182 Guidance take the following steps:
 - to modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular times;
 - to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the incidental live and recorded music exemption);
 - to remove the designated premises supervisor, for example,
 - because they consider that the problems are the result of poor management;
 - to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; and/or
 - to revoke the licence.

Appeals

5.25 Where an applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the licensing authority, an appeal may be made with the Magistrates' Court for the area. An appeal has to be commenced by the appellant giving notice of appeal to the designated officer for the Magistrates Court within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the appellant was notified by the licensing authority of the decision which is being appealed.

Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)

- 5.26 This is the person who for the time being is specified in the premises licence as being the premises supervisor. That person must hold a personal licence.
- 5.27 Any premises at which alcohol is sold or supplied may employ one or more personal licence holders. The main purpose of the 'designated premises supervisor' as defined in the Act, is to ensure that there is always one specified individual among these personal licence holders who can be readily identified for the premises where a premises licence is in force.
- 5.28 In July 2009 the Government empowered the Licensing Authority, on the application of the management committee of community premises, not to apply the normal mandatory conditions relating to the sale of alcohol, butinstead to impose a condition rendering the management committee responsible for the supervision and authorisation of all alcohol sales made pursuant to the licence.

Change of Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)

5.29 Any application to change a DPS will be dealt with in accordance with the Act. Where an objection is received from the Chief of Police, unless previously resolved, the Authority is required to hold a hearing.

Pavement Licenses

Business and Planning Act 2020 and coronavirus legislation

- 5.26 Throughout the Coronavirus pandemic, the Government passed and amended legislation with the goal of stimulating the economy. This included measures to temporarily allow premises with an on-licence only to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises (within certain conditions) and a temporary, faster and cheaper process for obtaining pavement cafés.
- 5.27 The Business & Planning Act 2020 has now been fully retained since 31March 2024 with new legislation that includes fixed fees and allows for pavement café licences with a duration of up to 2 years. Information on, and the procedures on how to apply for, a pavement licence is published on the Council's website in the <u>Pavement licence</u> information pages.

Personal licences

- 5.28 Under the Act, the Licensing Authority will automatically grant applications for personal licences so long as the applicant is 18 years or over, has possession of the qualification determined by the Secretary of State, has not had a personal licence forfeited within 5 years of the date of application and has not been convicted of any relevant offence or any relevant foreign offence. Such applications will be dealt with by an administrative process within the Licensing Section.
- 5.29 Thames Valley Police may make representations where the applicant has been convicted of a relevant offence or relevant foreign offence. In such cases the Licensing Sub-Committee will consider the matter and the application will be refused if the Sub-Committee decides that refusal is in the interest of the promotion of the prevention of the crime objective. In all other cases the application will be granted.

Temporary Event Notice (Standard TEN)

- 5.30 Section 100A of the Act states that the organiser of a Temporary Event must give the Authority notice of the proposed event. A copy of the notice must also be provided relevant persons i.e. to the Police and Environmental Health Officer. No notification need be given to other authorities such as the Fire Authority or Planning Section by the applicant but see below.
- 5.31 The organiser must give the Authority a minimum of 10 clear working days notice. This does NOT include the application date, event date, weekends and bank holidays. However, in a significant number of cases this time period would not allow enough time for the organiser to liaise with the police and other relevant bodies to ensure that the event passes off safely with minimum disturbance to local residents.
- 5.32 The Authority strongly recommends that it and Thames Valley Police receive all Temporary Event Notices at least 28 days before the planned event. This will ensure that full discussion

- can occur between the organiser and any other interested parties in order that the event can take place with the minimum risk of crime and disorder.
- 5.33 Although applicants are not required to notify the Fire Authority of temporary events the Authority will, if requested to do so, notify the Fire Authority of all temporary events notices received, in order that they are able to ensure the safety of such events. In addition, whilst applicants do not have to notify the Planning Section in respect of a temporary event, they should at least ensure that they have the relevant planning consent to hold the event or extend their hours. However, neither the Fire Authority nor any other responsible authority will be able to make any representations to the Licensing Authority in respect of temporary events.
- 5.34 Section 107 states that a personal licence holder may hold up to 50 Temporary Events each year and a person who is not a personal licence holder may hold up to 5 such events. Each Temporary Event may last for up to 168 hours and an individual premises may hold up to 12 such events per year so long as the total number of days used for these events does not exceed 21 per calendar year.

Appeals

- 5.35 Where objections have been made to a Standard Temporary Event Notice and those objections have not been withdrawn the matter will be determined by a Licensing Sub Committee. There is a right of appeal to the magistrates Court where:
 - (a) the objections have not been upheld;
 - (b) the objections have been upheld and a 'Counter Notice' served; or
 - (c) the objections have been upheld and a 'Counter Notice' not served.
- 5.36 In all cases an appeal my not be brought later than 5 working days before the first day of the event period specified.

Late Temporary Events Notices

- 5.37 Late notices can be given no later than 5 working days but no earlier than 9 working days before the event in relation to which the notice is given. If there is an objection from either the Police or Environmental Health Officer, the event will not go ahead and a Counter Notice will be issued. The number of late notices that can be given in any one calendar year is limited to 10 for personal licence holders and two for a non–personal licence holders. These count towards the total number of temporary event notices (see 5.29).
- 5.38 Where a Counter Notice has been issued there is NO right to a hearing and no onward right of appeal.

Applications and the Immigration Act 2016

- 5.39 Under changes made to the Licensing Act 2003 by the Immigration Act 2016, the Licensing Authority is required to undertake checks to ensure that applicants have the right to work in the UK. This is to assist in the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises.
- 5.40 These new provisions apply to applications for a grant of a premises licence; the transfer of a premises licence and for the grant of a personal licence. As part of the process for any individual applying for any of the above licences, the applicant must provide a relevant right to work document, or right to work share code using the

<u>Home Office's Immigration status website</u>. If a right to work document or share code is not provided then the application will be deemed invalid and returned to the applicant. The Licensing Authority will not and cannot issue a licence to someone who does not have the right to work in the UK.

- 5.41 Applicants are required to submit a copy of a relevant and valid right to work document. <u>A list of acceptable right to work documents (Reading Borough Council).</u> Applicants are advised to check the latest information about acceptable immigration documents on the gov.uk website.
- 5.42 As a Licensing Authority, we have to be satisfied that applicants have a right to work in the UK. As part of that process, we may refer your right to work document to the Home Office's Status Verification Evidence and Checking Unit (SVEC). The Home Office are also a named 'Responsible Authority' under the Licensing Act 2003 and will be sent copies of all applications for them to conduct their own checks.
- 5.43 When an applicant has limited leave to remain and work in the UK, any licence issued to that person will lapse at the expiry of that leave. A licence will also lapse if the Home Office revokes or curtails someone's leave in the UK. In these instances, applicants are advised to produce evidence of any extension to their entitlement to work to the Licensing Authority. If no evidence of this is produced, then the licence will lapse and all licensable activities permitted by that licence must cease. If an applicant then gets further leave to work in the UK, they will then have to apply for a new licence.
- 5.45 The Home Office as a named Responsible Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 can make representations in relation to applications predominantly in relation to the licensing objective of the prevention of crime and disorder.
- 5.46 Immigration offences such as the employment of illegal workers are now listed as one of the most serious criminal offences in the guidance to the Licensing Act 2003. The payment of Immigration penalties are also now a relevant offence under the Licensing Act 2003.
- 5.47 The Licensing Authority consider the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective in relation to the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises to be of particular seriousness and will expect applicants to address these issues within any application submitted to us.

Site visits

5.48 For some types of applications to be heard by a Licensing Sub-Committee which may require a 'site visit', the Licensing Authority will follow best practice and procedure and in doing so, on such occasions the Sub-Committee hearing will be opened and then adjourned in order for the site visit to take place. The above procedure will be followed at all times and Members of the Sub-Committee will not take it upon them selves to conduct a 'site visit' either formally or informally prior to the hearing commencing.

Councillors

- 5.49 Following the changes introduced by the Policing Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 which amended the Licensing Act 2003, Ward Councillors can no longer make representations unless they fall within the definition of "other persons" living or working in the vicinity of the premises and who are likely to be affected by the application.
- 5.50 A Ward Councillor (who does not have a personal or prejudicial interesting the application for any other reason) may represent an interested party at a Sub-Committee meeting in any of the following three circumstances:
 - Where the interested party is not attending the meeting but has given prior notice to the Council by the deadlines specified by the Licensing Regulations that s/he will be represented at the meeting;
 - Where both the Councillor and an interested party who has not given prior notice in an application attend the meeting;
 - Where the Councillor has submitted a written objection on behalf of an interested party and has notified the Council that s/he will be representing that party, again within the specified deadlines s/he must specify both the name and address of the interested party.
- 5.51 Where a Councillor who is a member of a Licensing Committee or a

Licensing Sub-Committee has had a direct or indirect involvement in the affairs of an application before him/her, in the interests of natural justice and given Article 6 of the Convention of the Human Rights Act 1988, (which requires a person to be given a fair hearing), s/he will disqualify him/herself from any involvement in the decision-making process affecting the premises licence in question.

Yellow Card – Red Card – Review applications

- 5.52 On 2nd September 2009, the Department for Culture Media and Sport (DCMS) wrote to all Chief Executives of Local Authorities advising that consideration should be given to 'adopting' a 'Yellow and Red Card' scheme to licensing review applications⁸. This Licensing Authority has adopted this scheme in 2009 and which has been used in addition to the steps outlined in 5.20 above.
- 5.53 Briefly the **'Yellow and Red Card'** scheme can be invoked by the Licensing Sub Committee on the first occasion where a review application has been made to
 - Impose stringent new conditions on the licence
 - Use the powers available as contained with the Section 182 Guidance for reviews, and
 - Imposition of a licence condition requiring the premises to display a
 - visible notice at the premises detailing the outcome of that review and the warning has been given. This would be deemed to be a 'Yellow Card'.

The recommended wording for the 'Warning' to be displayed at the premises, as approved by Slough Borough Council's Legal Services and Thames Valley Police should be –

The Licensing Sub Committee have issued a 'Yellow Card' to the licensed premises as a warning that if a further Review is necessary and matters have not improved the Premises Licence may be revoked.

⁸ Evaluation of the impact of the Licensing Act 2003

- 5.54 A 'Yellow Card' should be clearly and visibly displayed at the premises for a period of 12 months from the date the premises were brought before the Licensing Sub-Committee detailing the imposition of new conditions on the Premises Licence and that this warning has been given.
- 5.55 Where a review application has been made for the same premises and there has been a lack of improvement the Licensing Sub Committee should look to revoke the Licence.

6. Licence Conditions

General approach to licence conditions

- 6.1 The purpose of the licensing Act is the regulation of licensable activities on licensed premises. All conditions attached to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates, will be focused on matters, which are within the control of individual licensees and others in possession of relevant authorisations. Accordingly, matters will centre on the premises being used for licensable activities and the vicinity of these premises.
- 6.2 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour once persons are away from licensed premises, and therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation. However, licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the management of the evening and local economy.
- 6.3 Licensing conditions will relate to licensed premises and the impact of those licensable activities on the premises in the vicinity thereof. In this latter regard the Council will primarily focus on the direct impact of any activities taking place on those living, working or otherwise engaged in the area concerned.
- 6.4 The Authority does not have power to impose conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate unless it has received a representation from a responsible authority, or "other persons" such as a local resident or local business, which is a relevant representation, or conditions are consistent with the operating schedule submitted by the applicant.
- 6.5 The Authority will, only impose conditions on premises if it is considered appropriate and proportionate to do so in order to promote the licensing objectives. The Authority does not propose to implement standard conditions on licences across the board but instead, will draw upon a pool of conditions based upon those issued by the Home office and will attach such other conditions as it considers appropriate, given the circumstances of each individual case.
- 6.6 The model conditions will cover issues surrounding;
 - (a) Crime and disorder
 - (b) Public safety
 - (c) Public nuisance
 - (d) Protection of children from harm
- 6.7 Conditions to be imposed on licences will be tailored to the individual premises and events concerned. None of the matters discussed within this policy which may result in the imposition of conditions will be applicable or suitable for all premises. The Authority

will have regard to the size and type of premises when considering imposing conditions upon licences as the result of receiving relevant representations.

6.8 Applicants are asked to consider the model conditions and incorporate such of the conditions into their operating schedules as they consider appropriate and necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives. The Authority will impose the model conditions on application when those conditions are consistent with the operating schedule.

Exhibition of Films

- 6.9 Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate authorises the exhibition of films, the licence must include a condition requiring the admission of children to the exhibition of any film to be restricted in accordance with this section.
- 6.10 Where the film classification body is specified in the licence, unless section 20 (3)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003 applies, admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation by that body.

Where

- (a) The film classification body is not specified in the licence, or
- (b) The relevant licensing authority has notified the holder of the licence that this subsection applies to the film in question, admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation made by that licensing authority.
- 6.11 In this section "children" means any person under 18; and "film classification body" means the person or persons designated as the authority under Section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 (c39) (authority to determine suitability of video works for classification).

Door Supervision

- 6.12 Where a premises licence includes a condition that at specified times one or more individuals must be at the premises to carry out a security activity, each such individual must:
 - a) be authorised to carry out that activity by a licence granted under the Private Security Industry Act 2001; or
 - b) be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the Act.
- 6.13 But nothing section 21(1) Licensing Act 2003 requires such a condition to be imposed:
 - a) in respect of premises within paragraph 8(3)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Private Security industry Act 2001 (c12) (premises with premises licenses authorising plays or films); or
 - b) in respect of premises in relation to:
 - (i) any occasion mentioned in paragraph 8(3)(b) or (c) of that Schedule (premises being used exclusively by club with club premises certificate, under a temporary event notice authorising plays or films or under a gaming licence), or

- (ii) any occasion within paragraph 8(3)(d) of that Schedule (occasions prescribed by regulations under that Act).
- 6.14 for the purpose of this section:
 - a) "security activity" means an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a) of that Schedule applies, and, which is licensable conduct for the purposes of that Act. (see Section 3(2) of that Act) and
 - b) Paragraph 8(5) of that Schedule (interpretation of references to an occasion) applies as it applies in relation to paragraph 8 of that Schedule.

Authorisation of Alcohol

- 6.15 The supply or sale of alcohol is prohibited when:
 - (a) at a time when there is no Designated Premises Supervisor in respect of the Premises Licence
 - (b) at a times when the Designated Premises Supervisor does not hold a Personal Licence or his Personal Licence has been suspended.

In addition, every supply of alcohol must be made or authorised by a person who holds a Personal Licence.

Mandatory Conditions (2014)

6.16 Since the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) (Amendment Order) 2014 came into force, the Mandatory Conditions outlined below are attached to all 'ON' and 'OFF' sales premises at indicated.

6.17 Condition 1, with effect from 1st October 2014 (ON sales only)

- The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
- 2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises
 - (a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or encourage, individuals to -
 - (i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
 - (ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);
 - (b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
 - (c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize

to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

- (d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner;
- (e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability).

6.18 Condition 2, with effect from 1st October 2014 (ON sales only)

The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available.

6.19 Condition 3, with effect from 1st October 2014 (ON and OFF sales)

- (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol.
- (2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.
- (3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either
 - (a) a holographic mark, or
 - (b) an ultraviolet feature.

6.20 Condition 4, with effect from 1st October 2014

The responsible person must ensure that -

- (a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the following measures
 - (i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
 - (ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
 - (iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
- (b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is available to customers on the premises; and
- (c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

- 6.21 The following mandatory condition contained within the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) (Amendment Order) 2014 also took effect from 28th May 2014.
 - (1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
 - (2) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1- 'duty' is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 'permitted price' is the price found by applying the formula where-
 - P is the permitted price,
 - D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
 - V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the
 - Value added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

'relevant person' means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence-

- the holder of the premises licence,
- the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
- the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of under such a licence;

'relevant person' means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a Club Premises Certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question and 'value added tax' means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax Act 1994.

- (3) Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.
- (4) 1. Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 on a day ('the first day') would be different from the permitted price on the next day ('the second day') as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.
- 2. The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.

Casinos and Bingo Clubs

6.22 The Gambling Commission and local authorities enforce the Gambling Act 2005. The Council will take into account any existing controls under this legislation and will endeavour to avoid duplication when determining applications for premises licences under the Licensing Act 2003.

7. Enforcement

General

- 7.1 Slough Borough Council and Thames Valley Police have established a joint enforcement approach. The protocols provide for the targeting of agreed problem and high-risk premises, with a lighter approach applied to well managed and maintained premises.
- 7.2 Any enforcement action taken will comply with the Regulators Compliance Code and the Council's own <u>Enforcement policy for regulatory and enforcement services</u> so as to be consistent, transparent and proportionate.

Test purchasing

- 7.3 Slough Borough Council Trading Standards Service and the Police take a very serious view on the illegal sale of alcohol. The sale of alcohol to minors is a criminal offence. The Council and Police fully reviewed their procedures and approved a new enforcement approach in dealing with the sale of alcohol to children. The Local Strategic Partnership (L.S.P.) has also endorsed this.
- 7.4 Slough Trading Standards Officers have advised the off-licensed trade in particular, about how to set up systems to avoid under age sales taking place. Should you require advice on this subject then please contact the Trading Standards section. Trading Standards in partnership with the Police and The Licensing Team will continue to regularly conduct test purchasing exercises with volunteers, in response to complaints and local intelligence.
- 7.5 Trading Standards Officers and the Police have been successful in bringing a number of prosecutions and premises reviews in recent times, having particular regard to the link between alcohol and a range of crime and disorder issues, and this continues to be a concern of the Licensing Authority under the Act.
- 7.6 The Authority asks that applicants for licences consider demonstrating, that they have ensured that all their frontline staff have received adequate training on the law with regard to age restricted sales and that this has been properly documented and training records kept.
- 7.7 The Authority will actively encourage licensees to keep registers of refused sales where sales of alcohol have been refused for any reason. Keeping such records will help to demonstrate that responsibilities for checking ages of purchasers are being taken seriously.
- 7.8 The Council will undertake test purchasing in accordance with the Local Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory Services (LACORS) and the Consumer Standards, Trading Standards Institute (T.S.I.) Code of Best Practice on Test Purchasing. In addition, the Council will develop in consultation with Thames Valley Police a test purchasing protocol.

Inspections

7.9 The Authority will carry out routine inspections at all premises where a premises licence is in force. In addition, where a complaint or an application for a review of a premises licence is received, the premises will be inspected. The Council and Thames Valley Police will continue to liaise and may carry out joint inspections of premises. This partnership approach is intended to maximise the potential for

controlling crime and disorder at licensed premises and ensure compliance with relevant licensing conditions.

Thames Valley Police Approach

- 7.10 Thames Valley Police have reviewed their policy, whereby each premises licence and personal licence holder will be dealt with on the individual merits of their case. This will not impact on the Licensing Authority's approach to dealing with problems or representations.
- 7.11 The approach of the Police will not impact on the Authority's approach to dealing with problems or representations. Each case will be treated on its own merits. In some minor review cases it may be appropriate to amend conditions. However, where serious matters are brought to the attention of the Licensing Committee, more severe action may be taken. However, this action will be appropriate and necessary having regard to the promotion of the licensing objectives.

8. Contact details/advice and guidance

- 8.1.1 The Council's Licensing, Environmental Health, Health and Safety Neighbourhood Enforcement Team, Thames Valley Police and Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service can provide advice and information regarding sources of further guidance. Applicants are encouraged to engage in informal discussion with appropriate responsible authorities before the application process in order to resolve potential problems and void unnecessary hearings and appeals.
- 8.2 In the case of vessels (boats), other responsible authorities must also be served with applications. These include the Navigation Authority, the Environment Agency, the British Waterways Board or the Secretary of State. In the case of applications for licences for vessels, applicants are requested to contact the Licensing Section for further information.
- 8.3 All applications must be submitted to the Licensing Section of the Council, which acts on behalf of the Authority. The **Responsible Authorities** outlined at 5.4 are able to offer advice directly and must be served with copies of all full licensing applications. For minor variations, it is only the Licensing Section who must be served with a copy of the application.
- 8.4 Details for the Responsible Authorities and the press are contained at **Appendix B**.

Appendix A

Delegation of Functions (2012)

The delegations of functions in relation to licensing matters are as follows:-

Matters to be dealt with	Sub Committee	Officers
Application for personal licence	If a representation made	If no representation made
Application for personal licence	All cases	
with unspent convictions	, iii caccc	
Application for premises	If a representation made	If no representation made
licence/club premises certificate		
Application for provisional	If a representation made	If no representation made
statement	n a roprosomation made	ii iio representation made
Application to vary premises	If a representation made	If no representation made
licence/club premises certificate		
Minor variations		All cases
Application to vary designated	If a Police representation	All other cases
personal licence holder	n a r chec representation	7 111 011101 00000
Request to be removed as		All cases
designated personal licence holder		, caese
Application for transfer of premises	If a Police representation	All other cases
licence	n a r chec representation	7 111 011101 00000
Applications for Interim Authorities	If a Police representation	All other cases
Application to review premises	All cases	7 111 011101 00000
licence/club premises certificate	, cacc	
Decision on whether a complaint is		All cases
irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc.		
Decision on objection when Local	All cases	
Authority is a consultee and not		
the lead authority		
Determination of a 'Relevant	All cases	
Persons' representation to a		
temporary event notice		
(Standard notice only)		
Making a representation on behalf		Licensing Manager
of the Licensing Authority		Senior Licensing Officer
Determination of a representation	All cases	Licensing Manager
made on behalf of the Licensing		Senior Licensing Officer
Authority		
Determination of a Review made	All cases	
on behalf of the Licensing		
Authority		
Consideration to revoke a	All case	
personal licence or suspend a		
personal licence (for period of up		
to six months), where the licence		

Matters to be dealt with	Sub Committee	Officers
holder has been convicted of a relevant offence, foreign offence, immigration offence or been required to pay an immigration penalty.		

Appendix B

Addresses for Responsible Authorities & Press Publication details

Licensing

Thames Valley Police
HQ South
Oxford Road
Kidlington
OX5 2NX
licensing@thamesvalley.pnn.police.uk

Trading Standards

Observatory House 25 Windsor Road Slough SL1 2EL ts.representations@slough.gov.uk

Neighbourhood Enforcement Team

Observatory House
25 Windsor Road
Slough
SL1 2EL
ResilienceandEnforcementTeam@slough.gov.uk

Planning Department

Observatory House 25 Windsor Road Slough SL1 2EL planningenforcement@slough.gov.uk

Food & Safety Department

Observatory House 25 Windsor Road Slough SL1 2EL foodandsafety@slough.gov.uk

Local Safeguarding Children Board – Independent Chair

c/o Observatory House 25 Windsor Road Slough SL1 2EL

Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service

Slough Community Fire Office The Fire Station 124 London Road Langley Slough SL3 7HS easthubfiresafety@rbfrs.co.uk

Consultant in Public Health

Observatory House 25 Windsor Road Slough SL1 2EL

The Home Office

Alcohol Licensing Team Lunar House 40 Wellesley Road Croydon CR9 2BY Alcohol@homeoffice.gov.uk

Please enquire in specific cases where the premises are partly within another authority.

Service on the Trading Standards and Public Health Teams at (5) above satisfies the requirement to serve the Weights and Measures Authorities.

Newspapers Circulating in Slough

Applicants must advertise the application within 10 working days (from the date of submission) in one of the following newspapers:

Slough and South Bucks Observer

Slough Observer -Bowman House 2-10 Bridge Street Reading Berkshire RG1 2LU

Tel: 0118 955 3333

Slough and South Bucks Express

Baylis Community Media CIC, Newspaper House 48 Bell Street Maidenhead Berkshire SL6 1HX

Tel: 01628 680680

Appendix C

Glossary

Act

The Licensing Act 2003

Alcohol

Includes spirits, wine, beer, cider, or any other fermented, distilled, or spirituous liquor of or exceeding 0.5% alcoholic strength at the time of sale.

Car Jockey Schemes

A scheme whereby the customers car is parked by staff at the licensed premises and returned to the customer at the main entrance to the premises at the time of departure, whether for a fee or not.

Chief Officer of Police

The Chief Officer of Police of Thames Valley Police. All issues relating to local licensing should be address to:

The Chief Constable of Thames Valley Police

Licensing Team,

HQ South,

165 Oxford Road,

Kidlington,

OX5 2NX

Licensing@thamesvalley.pnn.police.uk

Child

An individual aged less 18 years of age.

Club Premises Certificate

A Certificate granted by the Licensing Authority for premises occupied by, and habitually used for the purposes of, a club.

Conditions

Restrictions on the Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate designed to ensure safety and promote the Licensing Objectives. Conditions will be Mandatory or can be attached to a

licence or certificate by the licence holder through the Operating Schedule or the Licensing Authority.

Councillor

An elected Member of the Council

Designated Premises Supervisor

The Personal Licence Holder named on the Premises Licence as being in day to day control of the premise through whom all alcohol sales must be authorised.

Door Supervisor

Any person employed at or near the entrance to licensed premises to ascertain or satisfy themselves as to the suitability of customers to be allowed on those premises or to maintain order on those premises.

Fire Authority

Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service

Guidance

Refers to Statutory Guidance issued under Section 182 Licensing Act 2003, by the Home Office.

Hours of Operation

The hours for which the licence or certificate for a premises is authorised to operate.

Late Night Refreshment

The supply of hot food or drink to members of the public, or a section of the public, on or from any premises, whether for consumption on or off the premises: at any time between the hours of 11.00pm and 05.00am. Exemption relate to some clubs, hotels and employees at their place of work.

Licence holder

The person to whom the Licensing Authority has granted the licence and in whose name it appears and who is responsible for the proper operation of the premise. The licensee is also liable to criminal proceedings for breaches of the terms and conditions of that licence.

Licensable Activities

Licensable Activities are:

- (i) the sale by retail of alcohol;
- (ii) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club;
- (iii) the provision of regulated entertainment; and

(iv) the provision of late night refreshment

Live Music

Following the implementation of the Live Music Act 2012, live music is not licensable as follows:

1. Alcohol On-Licensed Premises

Amplified live music between 8.00am and 11.00pm before audiences of no more than 200 people on the premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises.

2. Workplaces

Amplified live music between 08.00am and 11.00pm before the audiences of 200 people in workplaces not otherwise licensed under the 2003 Act (or licensed only for the provision of late night refreshment)

3. All venues

Unamplified live music between 08.00am and 11.00pm

Conditions on existing licenses

Where a premises continues to operate licensable activities (such as the sale of alcohol), any conditions relating to the above live music activities are suspended unless they have been added following a licence review

Licensing Sub-Committee

The Full Licensing Committee delegate a number their functions to one or more 'Licensing Sub-Committees'. These are made up of three members of the Full Licensing Committee.

Mandatory Conditions

The 2003 Act provides for a number of Mandatory Conditions to be included in every Premises Licence and/or Club Premises Certificate.

Operating Schedule

A document which includes a statement of the following -

- (i) the relevant licensable activities
- (ii) the times during which it is proposed that the relevant licensable activities are to take place
- (iii) any other times during which it is proposed that the premises are to be open to the public
- (iv) where the applicant wishes the licence to have effect for a limited period, that period;
- (v) where the relevant licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, prescribed information in respect of the individual whom the applicant wishes to have specified in the premises licence as the designated premises supervisor

- (vi) where the relevant licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, whether the supplies are proposed to be for consumption on the premises or off the premises, or both;
- (vii)the steps which it is proposed to take to promote the licensing objectives;
- (viii) such other matters as may be prescribed
- (ix) the name or position of the person responsible for ensuring compliance with the operating schedule, i.e. The Premises Licence Holder, The Designated Premises Supervisor or a person nominated by them in writing.

Other Persons

The Act now defines 'Other Persons' as 'persons who live, or are involved in a business, in the relevant Licensing Authority area, or in an adjoining area and who are likely to be affected by the grant of the application

Personal Licence

Authorises an individual to supply or authorise the supply of alcohol in accordance with a Premises Licence

Planning Permission

Formal approval by the Council, often with conditions, allowing a proposed development to proceed.

Premises Licence

Is a licence granted by the Licensing Authority which authorises premises to be used for one or more licensable activities. The licence is only valid in respect of premises named on the licence.

Prescribed Form

Any form issued by the Licensing Authority

Provision of facilities for making music and dancing

The Act removes the provision of facilities for making and dancing as forms or regulated entertainment.

Representations

Submissions made to the Licensing Authority by Responsible Authority's or 'Other Persons' in respect of an application. Representations can be made in support or against an application.

Temporary Event Notice

A notice that must be given to the Licensing Authority for small scale temporary events for a period not exceeding 168 hours duration.

Terminal Hour

The hour at which all or any of the Licensable Activities have finished and the premises have closed to the public. No one should be allowed to enter or re-enter the premises after the terminal hour has passed.

Variation

If the licence holder wishes to change any of the terms, conditions or restrictions of the licence, he/she will need to apply to vary the licence.

Young Person

A person who is over sixteen years of age but has yet to attain the age of 17 years.

Appendix D

